PETITION FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


Petitioner/claimant, Randy Keffer, was previously employed by Fola Coal Company and 

Appalachian Coal Company. He had approximately 14 years of exposure to coal and silica dust. 

His date oflast exposure with Fola Coal Company was May 15, 2010. 

Mr. Keffer filed a claim for occupational pneumoconiosis on September 3, 2016, with 

Healthsmart Casualty Claims Solutions, the Claim's Administrator for Fola Coal. His claim 

application included Fonn OIC-WC-lOP, Employees' Report of Occupational Pneumoconiosis; 

Form OIC-WC-30P, Physician's Report of Occupational Pneumoconiosis; an ILO completed by Dr. 

Afzal Ahmed and a dust exposure history. 

Fonn OIC-WC-30P was completed by Bridgette Freeman, FNP-BC who examined Mr. 

Keffer on July 6, 2016. She concluded that it was "unknown" if he suffered from occupational 

pneumoconiosis, or that his' capacity for work had been impaired by occupational pneumoconiosis. 

Dr. Ahmed, a Board Certified Radiologist, read Mr. Keffer's x-ray as % which under the ILO 

classification meant that he did not make an x-ray diagnosis of occupational pne~oconiosis. 

Accordingly, on July 6,2016, Mr. Keffer did not suffer from occupational pneumoconiosis, nor did 

he have a diagnosed impairment. 

On November 2, 2016, by Self-Insured Employer's Decision, Healthsmart denied Mr. 

Keffer's application for benefits on the basis that it was untimely filed. Paragraph 2 of its decision 

states as follows: 

"We have determined this claim was not timely filed in accordance 
with West Virginia Code 23-4-15(b). This section ofthe Code requires 
that a claim for occupational pneumoconiosis must be filed within three 
years from and after the date of last exposure to the hazards of 
occupational pneumoconiosis or within three years from and after a 
diagnosed irnpainnent due to occupational pneumoconiosis was made 
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known to the employee by a physician. Your application included a 
Physician's Report of Occupational Pnewnoconiosis completed on 
August 9,2016. The diagnosis field on the Physician's Report was 
marked "coal dust exposure". This is not a legitimate diagnosis. An 
X-ray report and 110 report dated July 6, 2016, were also submitted. 
Dr. Afzal Ahmed read the X-ray as 0/0, negative for pnewnoconiosis. 
Since a diagnosis of pneumoconiosis was not identified, we are ofthe 
opinion the second prong ofthe statutory requirement, communication 
ofa diagnosed impairment, does not apply. We are ofthe opinion the 
first prong ofthe Code does apply. This claim was not filed within three 
years ofyour date of last exposure. In view of this, your claim is denied 
on the basis that it was Dot timely filed." 

As set forth herein, Mr. Keffer would state that this decision is a blatantly fraudulent 

interpretation of West Virginia Code §23-4-15(b). Mr. Keffer protested the November 2, 2016 

Decision. 

In support of his protest, Mr. Keffer testified by way of a deposition on March 9, 2017. A 

summary of his testimony is as follows: 

1. 	 He started having a lot of breathing problems in the "last few years." 

2. 	 He was not aware what the cause was for his breathing difficulties. 

3. 	 He saw a physician (Dr. AI-Asadi) for his breathing and that the doctor prescribed 
him an inhaler. That the doctor conducted a breathing test and that he did not tell 
him what condition he suffered from. 

Dr. Al-Asadi's office notes, dated January 18, 2011, were submitted into evidence. After 

this one visit, Mr. Keffer did not see him again. Furthennore, he was the only 

physician who treated Mr. Keffer for breathing problems prior to his filing his occupational 

pneumoconiosis claim. 

Dr. Al-Asadi's office notes did not contain a pulmonary function study. However, his notes 

did reference a PFT study. It stated that "full PFT's today in the office shows no sign of obstructive 

or restrictive lung disease." (Emphasis added) 
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Accordingly, as of January 18,2011, Mr. Keffer had not been diagnosed by x-ray as having 

occupational pneumoconiosis, nor did he have any "diagnosed impainnent" made known to him by 

a physician. Furthennore, as noted, he did not have an x-ray diagnosis of occupational 

pneumoconiosis, nor a diagnosed impairment when he was examined by Ms. Freeman on July 6, 

2016. 

The claim was submitted for a decision, and the Offices of Judges, by decision dated August 

30,2017, reversed the November 2,2016, Claim's Administrator Order and ruled the claim timely 

filed. The employer, Fola Coal Company, appealed that Decision. 

The Workers' Compensation Board of Review, by Order dated November 17, 2017, 

reversed the Decision ofthe Office of Judges, and reinstated the Claim Administrator's Order dated 

November 2, 2016, rejecting the claim. 

ISSUES 

1. 	 Did the Workers' Compensation Board ofReview err as a matter oflaw and fact in 

reversing the Administrative Law Judge's Decision of August 30, 2017? 

2. 	 Did the Workers' Compensation Board ofReview utterly fail to properly construe the 

statutory language of West Virginia Code § 23-4-15b? 

ARGUMENTANDPO~SOFAUTHORnY 

The November 17,2017, Order ofthe Workers' Compensation Board ofReview must be 

reversed. There is absolutely no Statute Rille or any other authority which supports the rejection of 

this claim by the Claim Administrator. Contrary to the assertion ofthe Claim's Administrator, a 

claimant does not have to have a positive x-ray to file a claim for occupational pneumoconiosis. 

This is at best, a fraudulent interpretation of West Virginia Code §23-4-15(b). 
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WV Code of State Rules §85-20-52.1 sets forth what is required of a claimant to file a claim 

for occupational pneumoconiosis. It states as follows: 

"A properly completed application must be received before the 
potential claim will be considered by the Commission, Insurance 
Commissioner, private carrier or self-insured employer, whichever is 
applicable. A properly completed application must include 1) a 
completed WC-IOS fonn 2) a completed WC-20S fonn; 3) an !LO 
form properly completed by a certified "B" reader, and 4) a listing of 
all alleged exposures to harmful dust, including type of dust, and 
extent and duration ofexposure with each named employer." 

This rule does not require a positive x-ray to file a claim for occupational pnewnoconiosis. Which 

further illustrates the absurdity ofthe employer's argument. 

West Virginia Code §23-4-8 (b) states as follows: 

If it can be shown that the claimant or deceased employee has 
been exposed to the hazard of inhaling minute particles ofdust 
in the course of and resulting from his or her employment for a 
period of ten years during the fifteen years immediately preceding 
the date of his or her last exposure to such hazard and that the 
claimant or deceased employee has sustained a chronic respiratory 
disabillty, it shall be presumed that the claimant is suffering or the 
deceased employee was suffering at the time ofhis or her death 
from occupational pneumoconiosis which arose out of and in the 
course ofhis or her employment. 1bis preswnption is not conclusive. 

This section ofthe Code is commonly referred to as the "presumptive clause." As this 

Honorable Court welllmows, under this statute, a claimant does not have to have an x-ray diagnosis 

of occupational pneumoconiosis by the Occupational Pneumoconiosis Board to be granted an award 

based upon impairment ofbreathing or gas transfer (Diffusion Study). 

The employer cites West Virginia Code §§ 23-4-15b as authority that a claimant must have 

an x-ray diagnosis ofoccupational pneumoconiosis in which to file a claim for occupational 

pneumoconiosis. This statute, along with West Virginia Code §23-4-15(b), are merely time 

limitations for filing a claim for occupational pneumoconiosis. 
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West Virginia Code §23-4-15b sets forth the old statute oflimitations when claimants were 

previously granted a statutory 5% permanent partial disability for an x-ray diagnosis ofoccupational 

pneumoconiosis without impairment. lbis statute states, in part, that a claimant must file a claim 

for occupational pneumoconiosis within three years from and after the employee's occupational 

pneumoconiosis was made known to him by a physician. 

Assuming, arguendo, that this statute is applicable, Mr. Keffer, to date, has not been 

diagnosed with occupational pneumoconiosis by a physician. Accordingly, the three-year statute of 

limitations to file a claim has not began to run. 

The employer next cites West Virginia Code §23-4-15(b). This statute was enacted 

following the elimination ofthe 5% permanent partial disability by the West Virginia Legislature. It 

cites as follows: 

West Virginia Code §23-4-15(b) states as follows: 

"To entitle any employee to compensation for occupational 
pneumoconiosis under the provisions ofthis subsection, the 
application for compensation shall be made on the form or forms 
prescribed by the Insurance Commissioner, and filed with the 
Insurance Commissioner, private carrier or self-insured employer, 
whichever is applicable, within three years from and after the last 
day of the last continuous period of sixty days or more during 
which the employee was exposed to the hazards of occupational 
pneumoconiosis or within three years from and after a diagnosed 
impairment due to occupational pneumoconiosis was made known 
to the employee by a physician and unless filed within the three 
year period, the right to compensation under this chapter is forever 
barred, such time limitation being hereby dec1ared to be a 
condition of the right and hence jurisdictional, or, in the case of 
death, the application shall be filed by the dependent of the 
employee within two years from and after the employee's death, 
and such time limitation is a condition of the right and hence 
jurisdictional." (Emphasis added) 
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... 


This statute mandates that the application (for occupational pneumoconiosis benefits) must be on 

forms prescribed by the Insurance Commissioner. Consistent with Rule 85-20-52.1, the fonns 

prescribed, as noted. do not require a positive x~ray ofoccupational pneumoconiosis in order to file 

a claim for occupational pneumoconiosis. Furthermore, this statute sets forth the statutory 

limitations for the timely filing of occupational pneumoconiosis claims following the elimination of 

the statutory 5% permanent partial disability award for the diagnosis ofoccupational 

pneumoconiosis without impairment. A claim for occupational pneumoconiosis must be filed 

within 3 (three) years from the date ofthe claimant's last period of60 days of continuous exposure 

to dust, or within three (3) years after the claimant had diagnosed impairment. The Claim's 

Administrator in this case, fraudulently misconstrued the interpretation ofWest Virginia Code §23

4-1S(b), solely for the purpose ofdenying this claim. The claimant has two-time periods to file a 

claim for occupational pneumoconiosis. He does not have to have an x-ray diagnosis to file a claim. 

The employer has not demonstrated any Statute or Rule which requires a claimant to have 

an x-ray diagnosis to file a claim for occupational pneumoconiosis. Furthermore, the plain language 

of West Virginia Code §23-4-15(b) requires a "diagnosed impairment" before the three (3) year 

statute oflimitations to begin to run. To date, Mr. Keffer has not had a "diagnosed impairment." 

Accordingly, his claim was timely filed. 
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CONCLUSION 


The Workers' Compensation Board ofReview's decision must be reversed, and the Office 

ofJudges' Decision must be affirmed.