IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


CHARLESTON 


RANDY KEFFER, 


Petitioner, 
Sup. Ct. No.: 
Appeal No.: 2052203 

and JeN: 2017008634 
DLE: 05-15-2010 

FOLA COAL COMPANY, LLC, 

Respondent. 

FOLA COAL COMPANY, LLC'S 
RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR APPEAL

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

This workers' compensation claim is in litigation pursuant to the 

Petitioner's/Claimant's protest to the claim administrator's order of November 2, 2016, which 

rejected the claimant's application for benefits related to occupational pneumoconiosis as 

untimely filed. By order dated August 30, 2017, the Office ofJudges remanded the protest to the 

claims administrator with orders that the claims administrator rule on the claimant's allegation of 

exposure to dust. The RespondentlEmployer appealed this decision to the Workers' 

Compensation Board of Review. By order dated November 21, 2017, the Workers' 

Compensation Board of Review unanimously reversed the determination made by the Office of 

Judges and reinstated the claims administrator's order. The Petitioner/Claimant now contends 

that the Board ofReview misapplied the statute of limitations. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


The claimant is a 54-year old. disabled coal miner. He has a 32-packJyear history 

of cigarette smoking. The claimant completed an application for benefits on August 9, 2016, 

alleging that he developed occupational pneumoconiosis through 12 years of mining 

employment. The claimant worked for Fola Coal Company, LLC during nine of those 12 years. 

The claimant reported his date oflast exposure as May 15, 2010. The medical portion of the 

application was completed by a nurse practitioner, Bridgette Freeman, from Valley Health. 

Nurse Freeman did not diagnose the claimant with occupational pneumoconiosis and stated that 

it was ''unknown'' if the claimant had contracted occupational pneumoconiosis. The x-ray report 

that accompanied the report was interpreted as negative for occupational pneumoconiosis by Dr. 

A:fza1 Ahmed. 

By order dated November 2, 2016, the claims administrator rejected the 

claimant's application for benefits pursuant to the statute of limitations found at W. VA. CODE § 

23-4-l5(b.) The claims administrator determined that the claimant had not been diagnosed with 

occupational pneumoconiosis. In the absence of a diagnosis of occupational pneumoconiosis, 

the claimant must have filed his claim within three years of his date of last exposure to the 

hazards of occupational pneumoconiosis. The claimant filed his application more than six years 

after his date of last exposure. The claimant protested this order. 

In support of his protest, the claimant submitted his application for benefits and a 

transcript of his deposition testimony. None of the claimant's evidence established a medical 

diagnosis ofoccupational pneumoconiosis or impainnent due to occupational pneumoconiosis. 

The Office of Judges subsequently submitted the claimant's protest for decision. 

By decision dated August 30, 2017, the Office of Judges reversed the rejection of this claim and 
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remanded the protest to the claims administrator for further determination of non-medical issues. 

In rendering this decision. the administrative law judge opined that the claimant knew or 

reasonably should have known his breathing issues might be related to occupational exposure on 

July 6,2016, when the claimant underwent a ''black lung examination." The administrative law 

judge effectively ignored the statutory triggers regarding the date of last exposure and a 

diagnosed impainnent associated with occupational pneumoconiosis. Based upon this error, the 

employer appealed the Office of Judges' decision. 

By decision dated November 21, 2017, the Board of Review unanimously 

reversed the decision of the Office of Judges. The Board of Review properly cited and applied 

the statute of limitations application to occupational pneumoconiosis claims. The Board of 

Review found that the claimant had no diagnosed impairment associated with occupational 

pneumoconiosis. Therefore, the claimant must have filed his claim within three years of the date 

of last exposure. The claimant failed to file his claim within three years of his date of last 

exposure, and his claim was Wltimely flled. The claimant now petitions for appeal from this 

decision. 
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S~YOFARGUMENT 

Under W. VA. CODE § 23-4-15(b), a claim for workers' compensation benefits 

related to occupational pneumoconiosis must be fIled within three years of (1) the claimant's 

date of last exposure to the hazards of occupational pneumoconiosis or (2) the date on which a 

diagnosed impairment associated with occupational pneumoconiosis was made known to the 

claimant. Where a claimant has no diagnosed impainnent associated with occupational 

pneumoconiosis, the claimant must file a claim for benefits within three years of the date of last 

exposure to the hazards of occupational pneumoconiosis. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The RespondentlEmployer does not believe that oral argument would enhance the 

Court's understanding of the issue presented in this petition. 
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ARGUMENT 

THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD OF REVIEW DID 
NOT ERR IN REINSTATING THE CLAIMS 
ADMINISTRATOR'S ORDER REJECTING THIS CLAIM 
BASED UPON THE STATurE OF LIMITATIONS. 

Statutory law gives significant deference to orders of the Workers' Compensation 

Board of Review. W. VA. CODE § 23-5-15(d) states the applicable standard of review when such 

an appeal is made from the Board ofReview to the Supreme Court ofAppeals: 

If the decision of the board represents a reversal of a prior ruling of either 
the commission and the office of judges that was entered on the same 
issue in the same claim, the decision of the board may be reversed or 
modified by the supreme court of appeals only if the decision is in clear 
violation of constitutional or statutory provisions, is clearly the result of 
erroneous conclusions of law, or is so clearly wrong based upon the 
evidentiary record that even when all inferences are resolved in favor of 
the board's findings, reasoning and conclusions, there is insufficient 
support to sustain the decision. The court may not conduct a de novo 
re-weighing of the evidentiary record. If the court reverses or modifies a 
decision of the board pursuant to this subsection, it shall state with 
specificity the basis for the reversal or modification and the manner in 
which the decision of the board clearly violated constitutional or statutory 
provisions, resulted from erroneous conclusions of law, or was so clearly 
wrong based upon the evidentiary record that even when all inferences are 
resolved in favor of the board's findings, reasoning and conclusions, there 
is insufficient support to sustain the decision. 

In the instant case, the Board of Review did not clearly violate any statutory provision. In fact, 

the Board of Review simply applied the plain statutory language found at W. VA. CODE § 23-4

15(b) in reinstating the claims administrator's order rejecting this occupational pneumoconio~is 

claim as untimely filed. 

Occupational pneumoconiosis is defined by W. VA. CODE § 23-4-1(d) as a 

"disease of the lungs caused by the inhalation of minute particles of dust over a period of time 

due to causes and conditions arising out of and in the course of employment." W. VA. CODE § 

23-4-1(c) states that "[f]or the purposes of this chapter, disability or death resulting from 
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occupational pneumoconiosis, as defined in subsection (d) of this section, shall be treated and 

compensated as an injury by accident." Like all workers' compensation claims, claims for 

occupational pneumoconiosis benefits are subject to a statute oflimitations. 

The applicable statute of limitations is found at W. VA. CODE § 23-4-15(b). In 

relevant part, W. VA. CODE § 23-4-15(b) states: 

[t]o entitle any employee to compensation for occupational 
pneumoconiosis under the provisions ofthis subsection, the application for 
compensation shall be made on the form or forms prescribed by the 
Insurance Commissioner, and filed with the Insurance Commissioner, 
private carrier or self-insured employer, whichever is applicable, within 
three years from and after the last day of the last continuous period of 
sixty days or more during which the employee was exposed to the hazards 
of occupational pneumoconiosis.!!!: within three years from and after a 
diagnosed impairment due to occupational pneumoconiosis was made 
known to the employee by a physician and unless filed within the three
year period, the right to compensation under this chapter is forever barred, 
such time limitation being hereby declared to be a condition of the right 
and hence jurisdictional, or, in the case of death, the application shall be 
filed by the dependent of the employee within two years from and after the 
employee's death, and such time limitation is a condition of the right and 
hence jurisdictional. 

(Emphasis added). Because the claimant did not file this claim within three years of his date of 

last exposure, he cannot ever file it unless a diagnosed impairment due to occupational 

pneumoconiosis is made known to him by a physician. 

The claimant does not have a diagnosed impairment due to occupational 

pneumoconiosis, so the claim must have been filed within three years of the date of last exposure 

in order to be timely. The claimant's reported date of last exposure is May 15, 2010, and the 

date of his application for benefits is August 9, 2016. For this claimant to submit a valid 

application for benefits without a diagnosed impairment due to occupational pneumoconiosis, the 

application would have had to have been filed on or before May 15,2013. Thus, the claimant 

did not meet either of the conditions contained within W. VA. CODE § 23-4-15(b). 

Accordingly, the employer respectfully requests relief from the underlying 

decision ofthe Board ofReview that inappropriately finds this claim to be compensable. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Board of Review properly reversed the decision of 

the Administrative Law Judge. The Board of Review did not commit reversible error in finding 

this claim to be untimely filed under the applicable statute oflimitations. 

· Va. Bar No. 9671) 

Jenkins Fenstermaker, PLLC 
215 S. Third St., Suite 1103 
Clarksburg, WV 26301 

Attorney for Respondent 
Fola Coal Company, LLC 

004654.000003